Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 70354-4-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

I. **Identity of Petitioners**

Petitioners Yevgeny and Natalya Semenenko appealed an administrative finding by the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS or the Department) that they committed child abuse. The Court of Appeals upheld an administrative order that dismissed their appeal, thus denying them a hearing on the merits of the finding. The Semenenkos challenge the order on the ground that the Department exceeded its statutory authority by entering the finding well after the mandatory deadline required for it to do so. Alternatively, they seek a hearing on the merits, which the Semenenkos were denied because they failed to request internal agency review within 20 days of receiving notice of the findings.

II. **Court of Appeals Decision**

The Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion on August 11, 2014. The Court denied the Department's Motion to Publish the Decision on September 4, 2014.²

III. **Issues Presented for Review**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that the Department's failure to comply with a mandatory statutory time limit was merely a "procedural irregularity" that does not render the findings entered outside that time limit *ultra vires* and therefore void?

Appendix at 1-14 (Decision).
 Appendix at 15 (Order Denying Motion to Publish)

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that a 20-day statutory deadline to request internal agency review of an administrative abuse finding is an absolute bar to obtaining a hearing, even though the controlling regulations allow relief from default for "good cause"?

IV. Statement of the Case

Yevgeny and Natalya Semenenko immigrated to the United States from Estonia and the Ukraine, respectively, in 1989. They speak English conversationally but have difficulty understanding complex legal concepts in English. (CP 14, 23-24). In 2009, the Semenenkos struggled to help their 17 year old daughter, Letitciya, the youngest of their five children, fight her severe drug addiction. With the help of a counselor, their daughter finally agreed to inpatient treatment. (CP 61, 63-64).

On November 9, 2009, the Semenenkos and their daughter arrived at the drug rehabilitation center around 2:00 a.m. Shortly after arrival, Letitciya went into the bathroom, locked the door and refused to come out. When the Semenenkos were finally able to enter the bathroom, they saw Letitciya using intravenous drugs. Fearing for her life, the Semenenkos tried to intervene and asked the facility clerk to call 911. (CP 14-15, 61). The Semenenkos ultimately were able to remove Letitciya from the bathroom and block the door when she tried to re-enter. Letitciya was heavily drugged, fell to the ground, and a struggle ensued. (CP 61-62).

The incident was captured on videotape.³ DSHS received the report of possible abuse on or around November 10, 2009. (CP 92, 96).

The Department sent a Child Protective Services (CPS) social worker to the Semenenkos' home. The social worker visited the home on two or more occasions, and the Semenenkos had multiple conversations with CPS. (CP 19, 33). After a few weeks, the CPS worker told the Semenenkos that all issues had been resolved and the case was being closed. (CP 9, 34). The Semenenkos received a letter dated December 3, 2009 confirming that CPS had closed their case. (CP 8, 9, 34). The notice gave no indication that CPS found the Semenenkos to have abused their daughter or that an investigation was still pending. (CP 8).

On April 16, 2010, after no contact for over four months, and more than two months past the statutory deadline, the Department sent a four page letter to each of the Semenenkos informing them it had determined the November 9 incident was "child abuse". (CP 92-101). Letitciya was with her parents when they received the letters, and all three of them were confused and upset. (CP 9, 15, 34). Because Letitciya speaks better English than her parents, she called the CPS supervisor who signed the letter, explained that her parents had never abused her, and asked how to correct the error. (CP 9, 34).

³ The record suggests that the videotape was of poor quality. (CP 61).

The DSHS supervisor told Letitciya that since the case was closed, the letter must be a mistake and not to worry about it. (CP 9, 15, 34). The supervisor gave no other advice. (CP 34). In reliance on this information, the Semenenkos did not seek review of the finding or make any further inquiry. (CP 9, 16, 62, 74).

In November, 2010, Natalya Semenenko was fired from her job as a caregiver when a periodic background check disclosed the CPS finding of abuse.⁴ Along with the stigma of being named a child abuser, Natalya lost her income and health insurance for the family. (CP 62).

On March 25, 2011, the Semenenkos sought review of the finding. (CP 106-07). DSHS denied review because more than 20 days had passed since the Semenenkos received written notice of the finding. (CP 106-07). The Semenenkos requested an administrative hearing to challenge the determination. (CP 105). On October 5, 2011, with the Semenenkos acting *pro se*, an Administrative Law Judge granted the Department's Motion to Dismiss because they did not request internal agency review within 20 days. (CP 77). The DSHS Board of Appeals affirmed on May 10, 2012. (CP 66-72). The Semenenkos filed a petition for judicial review in King

⁴ Such a finding is an automatic and mandatory bar to any position involving unsupervised contact with children or vulnerable adults. The employer is required to run the background check and may not employ anyone with a disqualifying finding in such a position. See RCW 74.39A.056 (2), "Background Check Central Unit," DSHS website at http://dshs.wa.gov/bccu/ See also WAC 388-06-0700 et seq.

County Superior Court on June 28, 2012. The King County court upheld the administrative decision on April 16, 2013. (CP 1, 39). The Semenenkos filed a notice of appeal on May 14, 2013. (CP 38). The Court of Appeals affirmed on August 11, 2014.

V. Argument for Why Review Should Be Accepted

A. The Court of Appeals erred when it ruled that DSHS' failure to comply with a mandatory 90-day deadline by which it must investigate and make a finding that a report of child abuse is founded or unfounded is merely a "procedural irregularity" and does not render the finding void.⁵

Yevgeny and Natalya Semenenko are suffering what DSHS concedes are the devastating consequences⁶ of being tagged as child abusers. Natalya was fired from her job, and they both are permanently barred from any position involving unsupervised contact with a child or vulnerable adult.⁷ The consequences of the agency finding are harsher than many criminal convictions.⁸ The Semenenkos have consistently denied they committed abuse, and they have never had a hearing on the merits to show they are innocent.

⁵ In 2010, the 90-day time limit was set out in RCW 26.44.030(11)(a). The statute was amended effective Dec. 1, 2013 (Laws of 2012, ch. 259 § 3). The identical provision is now in RCW 26.44.030(12)(a), which petitioners use for ease of reference.

⁶ Respondent's Brief on Appeal at 1.

⁷ WAC 388-113-0030.

⁸ For example, a criminal conviction for simple or fourth degree assault, second or third degree theft, or forgery does not automatically disqualify an applicant from employment with access to vulnerable adults. RCW 43.43.842(2). Further, while criminal convictions can be sealed, vacated or expunged, DSHS findings cannot. RCW 9.94a.640, RCW 9.95.240, RCW 9.96.060, RCW 13.50.50.

The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals held that the 90-day statutory time limit within which DSHS *must* act under RCW 26.44.030(12)(a) is merely "procedural" and of no force or effect with respect to the agency's authority to issue abuse findings. The Court of Appeals did not analyze the language of the 90-day statute, the underlying legislative policy, the lack of any agency rationale for the delay, or the impact on the Semenenkos. The Department's failure to comply with the statutory deadline is not isolated to this case.⁹

While excusing the Department's non-compliance with a deadline set by the legislature and its own rule, the Court of Appeals held that a statutory deadline within which the Semenenkos should have asked for internal agency review (RCW 26.44.125(2)) *is* so inherently rigid that missing it is a jurisdictional bar to a hearing, regardless of cause.

This case raises a fundamental question: Does the Department's authority to enter a permanent, irreversible finding of abuse extend beyond the legislature's expressly imposed time limit? These findings impair substantial rights. The legislature requires the Department to conclude

http://www.thenewstribune.com/2014/09/08/3368784_dsns-secretary-says-agend running.html?sp=/99/289/&rh=1

⁹ See Court of Appeals, slip op. p. 8, referencing other recent cases subject to judicial review on this basis. See also, Tacoma News Tribune, quoting DSHS Secretary Kevin Quigley, on the agency's failure to meet its statutory mandate: "[t]there should be zero cases open more than 90 days." http://www.thenewstribune.com/2014/09/08/3368784 dshs-secretary-says-agency-

investigations promptly to further its multi-faceted intent to protect children, the family unit, and the due process rights of the accused. With one limited exception, RCW 26.44.030(12)(a) requires that "in no case shall the investigation extend beyond 90 days." The public must be able to rely on an express legislative mandate that limits the power of a state administrative agency to take extraordinary extra-judicial action.

The Court of Appeals misconstrued the legislature's explicit limitation on the grant of this extraordinary authority. Under the Court of Appeals ruling, the statutory language is rendered meaningless, and DSHS has no effective limit on its authority or requirement of prompt action to investigate possible abuse and take appropriate steps. This case raises an issue of substantial public interest, one of first impression, which should be determined by the Supreme Court.

1. The 90-day statutory limit in RCW 26.44.030(12)(a) is clear and unambiguous.

The legislature was cognizant of the extraordinary power it was instilling in the Department to make extra-judicial findings of abuse – determinations that not only create a significant stigma, but can impair the ability of a person to work for the rest of his/her life. As an administrative agency, DSHS has only those powers expressly conferred upon it.¹⁰ It is

¹⁰ State v. Munson, 23 Wn. App. 522, 524, 597 P.2d 440 (1979) ("Administrative agencies are creatures of the legislature without inherent or common-law powers and may

authorized to investigate and issue findings on a report of alleged child abuse within 90 days. RCW 26.44.030(12)(a). The time frame furthers the legislative intent to promptly protect children who are in danger of abuse. DSHS issued findings against the Semenenkos 158 days past the report of possible abuse, well beyond the statutory limit. By failing to comply with the deadline, DSHS exceeded the scope of its legislative authority, and the findings should be declared void.

The statute is mandatory as expressed and as to purpose:

For reports of alleged abuse or neglect that are accepted for investigation by the department, the investigation shall be conducted within time frames established by the department in rule. In no case shall the investigation extend longer than ninety days from the date the report is received, unless the investigation is being conducted under a written protocol pursuant to RCW 26.44.180 and a law enforcement agency or prosecuting attorney has determined that a longer investigation period is necessary. At the completion of the investigation, the department shall make a finding that the report of child abuse or neglect is founded or unfounded.

RCW 26.44.030(12)(a), emphasis added.

The statute authorizes DSHS to set timelines for its investigation subject to the 90-day limit. DSHS' own regulation sets a goal that, "CPS attempts to complete investigations within forty-five days", but otherwise

exercise only those powers conferred either expressly or by necessary implication."); Kabbae v. Dep't. of Soc. and Health Serv., 144 Wn. App. 432, 440, 192 P.3d 903 (2008) ("...an agency only has those powers that are conferred either expressly or by necessary implication.")

- 8 -

adopts the statutory mandate as the absolute limit: "in no case shall the investigation extend beyond ninety days." The Court of Appeals acknowledged that DSHS failed to comply with the 90-day limit.

DSHS has never argued that the one exception to the time limit applies in this case. But the presence of an exception itself reinforces the mandatory nature of the statute. Only if the legislature intended 90 days as a strict deadline would it be necessary to explicitly carve out an exception. DSHS has no authority outside the exception to enter an abuse finding once the legislatively imposed 90-day deadline has passed.

In determining the Department's failure to meet the deadline was "a procedural irregularity", the Court of Appeals minimizes the importance the legislature placed on the requirement: "In no case shall the investigation extend longer than ninety days from the date the report is received.... At the completion of the investigation, the department shall make a finding that the report of child abuse or neglect is founded or unfounded." RCW 26.44.030(12)(a), emphasis added.

"In no case" is more than merely procedural; it establishes a substantive mandate that defines and limits the scope of the Department's authority to issue a finding of abuse. In *State ex. rel. Petroleum Transp*.

Co., this Court held that, in regard to the State's issuance of a trucking

¹¹ WAC 388-15-021(7).

permit, the statutory mandate that "[n]o permit or extension thereof shall be granted...." meant exactly what it says, and that "no" and "shall" allow for no exception. ¹² In this case, the statutory mandate "*in no case shall*" similarly allows for no exception.

2. The 90-day time limit carries out the legislative intent to protect children, ensure family stability, and protect the due process rights of those accused of child abuse.

In ruling that the "Department's failure to make the finding within 90 days was not an *ultra vires* act," the Court of Appeals cites *South Tacoma Way LLC. v. State,* 169 Wn.2d 118, 123, 233 P.3d 871 (2010). *Slip op.* at 8.¹³ However, the Court of Appeals misreads *South Tacoma Way* as authorizing any agency action that is arguably within its general authority over the subject matter at issue, without regard to the specific statute and underlying legislative policy that limits the scope of that authority. In *South Tacoma Way,* this Court distinguished between an agency's non-compliance with substantive and procedural statutes for purposes of finding agency action *ultra vires*. But the Court did not limit its analysis to that distinction. The holding requires a court to analyze a

¹² State ex. rel. Petroleum Transp. Co., et. al. v. Washington Public Service Commission, 35 Wn.2d 858, 862, 216 P.2d 177 (1950) ("The department is a creature of statute and must obey the mandate of the legislature in word and spirit.")

¹³ The Court of Appeals decision erroneously states that "it is undisputed that the Department was authorized to make a finding of child abuse." With due respect to the Court of Appeals, the Semenenkos have always argued that the agency lacked authority once the 90-day deadline passed, and that premise is the crux of the issue in this case.

statutory requirement on its own terms as to whether it is substantive or procedural and if procedural, whether agency non-compliance is inconsistent with the underlying legislative policy. If so, violation of a procedural requirement is *ultra vires*, rendering the agency action void.¹⁴

The *South Tacoma Way* Court distinguished that case from the situation in *Noel v. Cole.* ¹⁵ In *Noel,* this Court recognized the continuing "vitality" of the *ultra vires* doctrine as to governmental entities. The Court ruled that "[a]n agency may lack authority to make a contract for a multitude of reasons. It may simply lack *any* power to contract in the government's name. More commonly, an agency steps outside its authority by failure to comply with statutorily mandated procedures." ¹⁶ In *Noel,* the procedural defect was the agency's failure to prepare an Environmental Impact Statement - a mandatory statutory requirement - prior to selling timber on land held in trust for educational purposes. This Court held the contract of sale was void, even though the agency had "general authority" to sell timber on such land. ¹⁷ The Court should grant review of this case to clarify this important aspect of *South Tacoma Way*.

¹⁴ South Tacoma Way, 169 Wn.2d at 125.

¹⁵ 98 Wn.2d 375, 655 P.2d 245 (1982).

¹⁶ *Id.* at p. 378.

¹⁷ *Id*.

3. Proper application of South Tacoma Way in this case renders the abuse finding void.

The Court of Appeals did not undertake the analysis required under South Tacoma Way. In order to determine if an agency action in violation of a statutory mandate is void, a court must look to the specific language and underlying policy of the statute. The primary purpose of RCW 26.44 is to protect children. This includes alleged victims and children who might be exposed to harm in the future. By requiring DSHS to conclude investigations and render an abuse determination (as founded or unfounded) within 90 days, the legislature furthers the intent to swiftly determine the potential for harm and take appropriate protective action. The mandatory time limit also furthers the legislature's explicit emphasis on protecting the due process rights of parents and others in the course of child abuse investigations:

[P]arents and children often are not aware of their due process rights when agencies are investigating allegations of child abuse and neglect. The legislature reaffirms that all citizens, including parents, shall be afforded due process, that protection of children remains the priority of the legislature, and that this protection includes protecting the family unit from unnecessary disruption.

RCW 26.44.100(1).18

¹⁸ See, Tyner v. Dept. of Social and Health Serv., 141 Wn.2d 68, 79, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) ("The procedural safeguards protect both children and family members; children are protected from potential abuse and needless separation from their families and family members are protected from unwarranted separation from their children.")

The 90-day limit is also consistent with the overall legislative purpose. The legislature recognizes the explosive impact of an abuse finding. ¹⁹ The legislature is careful to acknowledge the harmful impacts of empowering an administrative agency to make quasi-criminal findings and the need to protect the fundamental rights of persons accused, while also pursuing the duty to protect children. "When the plain language is unambiguous—that is, when the statutory language has but one meaning—the legislative intent is clear, and the statute will not be interpreted otherwise." ²⁰ The Department has a duty to quickly resolve reports of abuse: to act quickly to protect children by timely, affirmative intervention when that is warranted, and to timely dismiss reports that cannot be substantiated. Affected families should not be faced with uncertainty of an indefinite duration as to the status of their relationships, livelihoods and/or potential for interference by the state.

The established time limit to complete the investigation and issue findings is not merely aspirational or procedural; it is fundamental to the purposes the legislature intends to fulfill. The Court should accept review (1) to provide clear guidance on the impact of the Department's failure to

PCW 26 44

²⁰ State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 801, 92 P.3d 228 (2004).

meet the statutory deadline and (2) to clarify when a statutory limit on agency action renders action outside the limit *ultra vires* and hence void.

B. The administrative remedy of "good cause" for not complying with a deadline to request agency review provides relief from default.

This Court should also review the Court of Appeals ruling that "good cause" under WAC 388-02-0020 is unavailable to provide relief from default due to an untimely request for internal agency review of abuse findings because such relief is not authorized by the internal review statute, former RCW 26.44.125(2).²¹ Administrative findings of abuse have severe, permanent consequences. Courts disfavor defaults, and administrative findings that have similar force and effect as court orders should be afforded the same relief as allowed in judicial tribunals.²²

WAC 388-02 governs all administrative hearings involving DSHS agency action and supplements the APA.²³ In the vast majority of DSHS administrative hearings, aggrieved parties are *pro se*.²⁴ Thus the Court of

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