RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 04, 2014, 12:44 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 90871-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

YEVGENY SEMENENKO and NATALYA SEMENENKO,

Petitioners,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

DSHS ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Patricia L. Allen Assistant Attorney General WSBA #27109 Washington State Attorney General's Office 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Washington 98104 OID #91016

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

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court's criteria for review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The Semenenkos do not claim that the case below presents a conflict with the holdings of other cases, or that a constitutional issue warrants this Court's review. Rather, RAP 13.4(b)(4) is the only criterion for review mentioned in the Petition for Review . PFR at 6. RAP 13.4(b)(4) allows review: "If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

As will be discussed in detail below, petitioners have not presented an issue of substantial public interest in this case. Their first issue involves clear statutes, regulations, and long-standing law that defines the time limit for review of a founded finding of child abuse/neglect and whether the good cause definition creates an exception. As such, the issue is not a matter of public interest that necessitates a decision from this Court. The Semenenkos' second issue asks whether the statutory direction that DSHS conclude child abuse/neglect investigations within 90 days

means that any finding more than 90 days after a referral is void. Because this second issue is based on a flawed view of the statutes and untenable interpretation of case law, it does not present an issue of public importance requiring this Court's attention.

A. Dismissal for Late Filing Is an Unremarkable Decision That Raises No Question of Substantial Public Interest

Mr. and Ms. Semenenko argue that the Court of Appeals decision raises issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) based largely on their own personal situation. They assert that they should not have been held to the 20 day time limit for requesting review of their founded findings of child abuse/neglect because they had good cause not to file timely. PFR at 15-16. To frame their issue, the Semenenkos distort the meaning and purpose of the definitional regulation they rely on, WAC 88-02-0020. But the statutes and regulations are unambiguous and do not provide a good cause exception for failure to meet the filing deadline set forth in RCW 26.44.125(2)(1998) and former WAC 388-15-085(2003).

Moreover, the Semenenkos' case is a poor vehicle to examine a theoretical good cause exception. First, there is no colorable basis for excusing the long delay between their discovery of the effects of a founded finding and their attempts to address the issue. Second, the timing statutes and regulations have been amended since the events of this case. RCW 26.44.125(2) and RCW 26.44.125(3); WAC 388-15-0085. Since the statutes have been modified, there is no reason for this Court to explore if former statutes contained a covert good cause exception. See RCW 26.44.125(3) (Appellants who can show DSHS did not comply with notice requirements of RCW 26.44.100 are not required to file review request within 30 days). The Semenenkos' first issue, therefore, is limited to the case at hand and would not add to the understanding of existing regulations and statutes.

1. Good Cause as Defined in WAC 388-02-0020 Cannot Override the Requirements of RCW 26.44.125(2) and RCW 26.44.125(3)

The two sources of law describing the procedures for challenging a founded finding of child abuse/neglect, RCW 26.44.125 and WAC 388-15-0085, do not mention the term "good cause." This term, however, is defined in WAC 388-02-0020. That definition pertains to the conduct of DSHS hearings at OAH and has no application to the statute that defines the time limit for an appeal.

The proper use of this regulation depends on whether the term "good cause" appears in a substantive provision of WAC Chapter 388-02 and use of the definition must be limited to where "good cause" appears in that context. Petitioners, however, argue that the "good cause" defined in

WAC 388-02-0020 could justify their request for review some 11 months after the initial founded findings were made and some four months after, in their accounting, they understood that the findings were intact. PFR at 14-17. In substance, Petitioners claim they can import the good cause definition anywhere they like. PFR at 15-16.

There is no support in the law for such a reading. As a matter of plain language, the "good cause" definition in WAC 388-02-0020 has no applicability to the deadlines for appealing a founded finding to DSHS or OAH. It is contained in a different WAC Chapter, and "good cause" is not mentioned in any context related to review of a founded finding. WAC 388-15-0085(1998). The Court of Appeals properly recognized that Petitioners had no basis for applying good cause to the untimely appeal. *Semenenko v. DSHS*, No. 70354-4-I, slip op. at 12. Petitioners' argument, moreover, disregards the purpose and scope of WAC Chapter 388-02, spelled out in WAC 388-02-0005(2) as follows:

Nothing in this chapter is intended to affect the constitutional rights of any person or to limit or change additional requirements imposed by statute or other rule. Other laws or rules determine if you have a hearing right, including the APA and DSHS program rules or laws. (Emphasis added).

In other words, Petitioners are asking this Court to accept review to address whether a definitional rule may be arbitrarily inserted into other

laws, and to address if such a definition may be used in a way contrary to the stated intent of the WAC Chapter containing the definition. The public interest is not served by addressing this type of untenable reading of regulations and statutes.

2. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Significant Public Interest Because No Version of Good Cause Would Excuse the Petitioners' Untimely Appeal

The first issue also fails to present a significant question of broad public interest because petitioners would be unable to demonstrate "good cause" for their failure to timely file a request for review of the founded findings. As such, the Court could not provide any meaningful guidance on the topic of good cause.

There is no dispute that petitioners received notification of the founded findings in April 2010. In November 2010, Ms. Semenenko failed a background check because of the founded finding. Petitioners then waited until March 25, 2011 to request DSHS review of the founded findings made almost a year earlier. The request was denied as untimely and Petitioners then waited another six weeks to file a request for a hearing at OAH on May 12, 2011. AR at 49-51. There is no colorable good cause for these delays, where the original letter emphasized that review must be sought within 20 days.

The explanation that the petitioners' daughter contacted someone at DSHS who said they did not have to worry about the findings letter is, at best, vague. But even this slim rationalization for an untimely appeal was definitively eliminated in November 2010 with the background check. Despite the clear notice of the issue at that time, the Semenenkos still took no action for four more months. That delay cost them any tenable good cause argument they might once have possessed. See *Kingery v. Dep't. of Labor & Indus.*, 132 Wn.2d 162, 176, 937 P.2d 565 (1997) (equitable remedy for untimely appeal is not available if parties are not diligent about claiming their rights when the good cause ends).

Petitioners would not have succeeded in gaining a hearing below, even if good cause were an available excuse. The untimely appeal is, by the Petitioners' own admissions, largely their responsibility. And, these facts make this an inappropriate case in which to consider whether the good cause definition in regulations modifies the statutory time limits that the Petitioners' admittedly failed to meet.

B. There Is No Reason to Review Petitioners' Claim That Lack of Compliance With the 90 Day Investigation Period Makes a Founded Finding Completely Void

Faced with an unexcused failure to exhaust administrative remedies by appealing their founded findings, the Semenenkos raise an alternative issue under which the findings are void from their inception.

Their theory would automatically invalidate any finding of neglect or abuse if DSHS issued the finding more than 90 days from the beginning of an investigation. This approach would undermine an unknown number of cases because "If [an action] was truly void . . . it would be subject to challenge and invalidation at any time, perhaps years later." South Tacoma Way LLC. v. State, 169 Wn.2d 118, 124, ¶ 16, 233 P.3d 871 (2010). While this issue could affect numerous children and adults, it does not warrant review. It depends on overstating the statutory provisions and misreading case law. The staggering repercussions of the Semenenkos' argument, moreover, are so obviously harmful to children that it is implausible that the Legislature intended such results.

1. Petitioners Overstate the Statutory Time Directives, Which Do Not Include a Remedy of Negation for Any Finding Made Beyond 90 Days Past Referral

Petitioners claim the statute in question expresses a legislative intent that a late finding of neglect is automatically void. But read naturally according to its plain language, the statute does not suggest that child abuse or neglect findings are void if issued more than 90 days after an investigation begins. Rather, the statute simply directs that an "investigation" shall not "extend longer than ninety days form the date the report is received." RCW 26.44.030(12)(a). After this investigation, the statute provides that "findings" are to be issued: "At the completion of the

investigation, the department shall make a finding that the report of child abuse or neglect is founded or unfounded." *Id.* DSHS recognizes the legislative intent that investigations be completed in 90 days with prompt findings. But nothing in the statutory text suggests that findings issued on the 91st day are void. There is no penalty, or expressed intent that an investigated person can rely on the 91st day as if it were a statute of limitations or repose.

2. Petitioners Misread Ultra Vires Case Law

To get to the extraordinary result of deeming their unappealed findings void, Petitioners ask the Court to use the ultra vires doctrine. PFR 10-11. The court of appeals, however, properly applied this Court's leading case of *South Tacoma Way LLC. v. State*, 169 Wn.2d at 118, and this Court's other ultra vires cases, to reject the Petitioners' theory.

a. South Tacoma Way Does Not Support a Finding That Delayed Findings Are Void Ab Initio

As recognized in *South Tacoma Way*, 169 Wn.2d at 118, past Washington "cases have drawn a distinction between government acts that are ultra vires and those acts that suffer from some procedural irregularity." *South Tacoma Way*, 169 Wn.2d at 122. While the words "ultra vires" are not always artfully used by courts, this Court made it clear that:

Ultra vires acts are those performed with no legal authority and are characterized as void on the basis that no power to act existed, even where proper procedural requirements are followed. Ultra vires acts cannot be validated by later ratification or events.

Id, 169 Wn.2d at 123, ¶11. Thus, for an action to be void from its beginning, the legal test is stringent. It requires "no legal authority" in a scenario where "no power to act existed, even where proper procedural requirements are followed." Id.

Petitioners cannot meet the standard to make their findings void when issued. Both parties agree that the statute unambiguously grants DSHS legal authority to issue findings. That is the express power to act granted in RCW 26.44.030(12)(a). In essence, Petitioners are asking this Court to review the very argument it recently rejected in *South Tacoma Way*, 169 Wn.2d at 118, where a party "fail[ed] to distinguish between substantive and procedural violations of law." *Id.*, 169 Wn.2d at 123, ¶ 14. Petitioners cannot simply label a late finding as a substantive violation. Doing so defies the Court's distinction between substance and procedure. Because Petitioners' primary ultra vires argument that the findings are void runs directly counter to the clear rule of law, it does not present a significant issue requiring this Court's review.

b. Petitioners Cannot Show That a Finding More Than 90 Days Out Is Voidable

Nor is there any reason for this Court to examine the alternative issue discussed in *South Tacoma Way*, where a court must evaluate "acts done without strict procedural or statutory compliance[.]" *Id.*, 169 Wn.2d at 123, ¶ 12. At the very most, such "acts *may or may not* be set aside *depending on the circumstances involved.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). The Petition, however, fails to distinguish this secondary approach discussed in *South Tacoma Way* from the narrow doctrine of ultra vires and void. But, to the extent Petitioners are trying to argue that the findings should be "set aside" under this secondary approach, the court of appeals properly addressed this issue. There is no need for this Court's review of that unpublished decision.

This case presents no basis for concluding that the statute reflects a legislative intent or policy where late findings are subject to being set aside *solely* for being later than 90 days. First, the statutory structure shows that there is no need for such a remedy. Any person who receives a so-called "late" finding of abuse or neglect has robust rights to appeal the finding. See RCW 26.44.125(2) and RCW 26.44.125(4); WAC 388-15-093; WAC 388-15-109. As a result, the remedy of "setting aside" findings solely for lateness would assist only two types of individuals: (1)

individuals who appealed but failed to obtain a change in findings; and (2) individuals like the Semenenkos, who failed to appeal the findings altogether and who mount an untimely collateral attack. Neither situation presents a reason for setting aside findings solely based on lateness.

Second, the direction to investigate within 90 days is not comparable to the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) violation reviewed in Noel v. Cole, 98 Wn.2d 375, 655 P.2d 245 (1982), the other case relied upon by Petitioners. As this Court recognized in South Tacoma Way, the Noel case set aside a timber sale based upon a clear legislative intent and policy. Certain state actions, including the timber sale, had to be preceded by compliance with SEPA review of environmental impacts. South Tacoma Way, 169 Wn.2d at 126, ¶19. Unlike the DSHS non-compliance with the statutory directive on timing, the ruling in *Noel* depended on "one important distinction." *Id.* The clearly legislative policy required consideration of SEPA values before taking action—it was a legal prerequisite to the action. Perhaps if DSHS issued a founded finding of abuse/neglect without doing the prerequisite investigation, it could be analogous to *Noel*. But an untimely issuance of the finding after the requisite investigation does not defeat any legislative prerequisite to action.

c. Policy Goals Embodied by RCW Chapter 26.44 Are Not Advanced by Voiding Findings of Abuse and Neglect

Petitioners, nevertheless, argue that various policy goals of the legislature in enacting a 90 day limit should lead to a different result. PFR at 12-14. But their analysis of legislative policies is flawed and does not explain why the 90th day is a drop-dead date, beyond which a finding is void or subject to being set aside. There is no legislatively created prerequisite to founded findings missing from this case, in contrast to the SEPA compliance missing in *Noel*. RCW Chapter 26.44.

Moreover, Petitioners ask for a result that is contrary to the policy of the statutes. Under RCW 26.44.100(1), "[t]he legislature reaffirms . . . that protection of children remains the priority of the legislature[.]" This express priority—protection of children—is defeated if a DSHS finding of abuse or neglect is void, or subject to being set aside, *solely* because it was issued past the 90th day of an investigation.

Petitioners also rely on the other competing policies in the statutes, but those arguments also fail to show that the findings should be set aside. For example, the policy of conducting a prompt investigation protects children by avoiding a dangerous delay, and protects parents and children from the harm of a protracted investigation of unfounded reports of abuse or neglect. Neither of these policies implies that a finding of abuse is void

solely because it is issued more than 90 days after an investigation began. The Legislature expressly stated that a child's safety is the highest priority if there is tension with competing rights of parents, custodians and guardians.

When the child's physical or mental health is jeopardized, or the safety of the child conflicts with the legal rights of a parent, custodian, or guardian, the health and safety interests of the child should prevail.

RCW 26.44.010 (emphasis added). Contrary to arguments in the Petition, a parent's interest in avoiding a protracted investigation cannot outweigh a child's interest in being protected. Petitioners' view would lead to dangerous consequences for children and vulnerable adults because identified and known perpetrators would not be subject to a finding.

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